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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report 

The Trustees present their Annual Report together with the Financial Statements and the Auditor’s Report of 
the charitable company Believe Engage Succeed Trust for the period from 1 September 2019 to 31 August 
2020.  The Annual Report serves the purposes of both Trustees’ Report and a Directors’ Report under 
company law. 
 
Believe Engage Succeed Trust operates two special schools for pupils aged from 2 to 19 and an Alternative 
Provision for pupils aged 11 to 16.  Pupils are predominately admitted from across Suffolk. All admissions to 
Trust schools are managed through the Local Authority Specialist Admissions Process (SAP), using their 
Inclusion Service Referral Form. The Local Authority determines admissions to the Trust’s schools through 
suitability panel meetings and the three SAP meetings held per annum.  
 
The Trust has a combined capacity of 354 and had a roll of 343 in the school census of October 2020.  
 

Structure, Governance and Management 
 
Constitution 
Believe Engage Succeed Trust (BEST) is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity.  The 
Charitable Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association are the primary governing documents of the 
Academy Trust. 
 
BEST was incorporated on 25th February 2016 and became a Multi-Academy Trust on 1st February 2019.  It 
comprises Riverwalk Special School and The Albany located in Bury St. Edmunds and Warren Special 
School located in Lowestoft.  
  
The Trustees of BEST are also the directors of the Charitable Company for the purposes of company law. 
The terms Trustee and director are interchangeable. The Charitable Company operates as Believe Engage 
Succeed Trust. 
 
Details of the Trustees who served during the period and to the date these accounts are approved are 
included in the Reference and Administrative Details on page 3. 
 
Members’ Liability 
Each Member of the Charitable Company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Charitable Company 
in the event of it being wound up while they are a Member, or within one year after they cease to be a 
Member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before 
they ceased to be a Member. 
 
Trust indemnities 
The Trust has opted into the Department for Education’s risk protection arrangement (RPA), an alternative 
to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise. 
 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/academies-risk-protection-arrangement-rpa 
 
RPA cover applies to the central infrastructure of the Trust, as well as the individual schools.  The scheme 
protects Trustees and officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst 
on Trust business, and provides cover up to a maximum aggregated value of £10 million, during any one 
membership year. It is not possible to quantify the Trustees’ and officers’ indemnity element from the overall 
cost of the RPA membership. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

Method of Recruitment and Appointment or Election of Trustees 
The management of BEST is the responsibility of the Trustees who are elected or co-opted under the terms 
of the Trust’s Articles of Association.  BEST’s Articles of Association provide for 9 Trustees, including the 
Trust’s CEO. 
 
Trustees are subject to retirement after a term of 4 years.  After their term, subject to them remaining eligible 
to be a Trustee, any Trustee can be re-appointed or re-elected at the meeting at which they retire.  
 
The Board requires its Trustees to have a broad range of skills, knowledge and previous experience in order 
to be effective in the governance of the Trust and contribute fully to the development of the Trust.  The 
Trustees complete NGA Skills Audits annually.  All potential Trustee candidates are required to complete 
one, as an integral part of the selection process.  The Trustee recruitment process comprises creating a 
Trustee person specification, short-listing and interviewing using a panel of Trustees, final recommendation 
to the Board, approval by the Board and ratification by the Members by ordinary resolution.  
 
Where a vacancy arises, the Board seeks to recruit through a combination of seeking potential candidates 
from the Academy Ambassadors (an independent organisation specialising in recruiting to academy trust 
boards) and using Trustees’ personal networks. The Trust Board has been successful in recruiting a new 
Trustee in December 2019 and a further one in October 2020.  
 
The composition of the Board includes seasoned educational and business professionals who have a good 
understanding of the operational, financial and legal requirements of running a Multi-Academy Trust. This 
diversity of experience provides a balanced approach to decision making. 
 

Policies and Procedures for the Induction and Training of Trustees 
BEST’s Trustees have developed a scheme of delegation and a Trustee Induction Policy which is provided 
to all Trustees.  Induction procedures for new Trustees follow this policy with them being provided with Key 
Trust Documents, an opportunity to attend an Induction meeting (virtually this year) with the Chair and CEO 
and visits to BEST’s schools, as Trustee visits are scheduled during the academic year. Due to Covid-19 
restrictions, some of these visits have been virtual visits. Trustees are provided with copies of policies and 
procedures. They are given access to minutes, management accounts, budgets, plans and other documents 
to support them as Trustees. They are also required to sign BEST’s Code of Conduct for Trustees annually. 
 
The Trust is committed to providing excellent opportunities for Trustees and Governors to complete suitable 
training to enable them to perform their role with confidence and effectively. Training is provided through the 
purchase of Suffolk based School’s Choice Governor Training and qualified Trust staff for specific topics.  
This is complemented by the use of online training from external providers, for example, NGA and NSPCC.  
The Trust uses the NGA Skills Audit regularly to identify additional training needs. The Trust, in line with its 
ethos of continuous professional development, encourages the participation in external conferences, 
networks and training in order to keep up to date with changes in legislation and the evolving best practice 
for MATs.  
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

Organisational Structure 
BEST is a charitable trust, which is accountable for the educational outcomes of all of its pupils, as well as 
responsible for its employees, ensuring value for money is delivered in its use of public funds and the 
stewardship of its premises.  BEST has established an integrated organisational structure comprising three 
levels: the Board, the Executive Team and Local Governing Bodies (LGBs).  Through the Trust’s Scheme of 
Delegation, the Board has delegated the majority of its responsibilities to these bodies.  The aim of this 
management structure is to delegate decisions to their closest point of impact and encourage involvement in 
decision making, at all levels.  
 
The Board is responsible for making major decisions about the strategic direction of the Trust, ensuring that 
its aims are met, and its ethos is maintained.  This includes setting Trust wide policy, approving any 
expansion plans, adopting the annual plan and budget, monitoring the Trust’s financial performance and 
educational outcomes, making Headteacher appointments and approving major investment programmes.  
The Board meets regularly throughout the academic year, following an Annual Trust Planner in order to 
provide timely and well-structured meetings. The Board monitors the work of its Finance and Audit Committee 
through the minutes of its meetings. From time to time, the Board may convene Working Groups to carry out 
specific time-limited tasks. 
 
The Executive Team which comprises the CEO, Trust Development Lead / Deputy CEO and CFO meets 
very regularly and provides the operational management link between the Board and the Local Governing 
Bodies. 
 
The Local Governing Bodies are made up of local people including staff, parents and locally nominated 
governors.  They act as a ‘critical friend’ to the Headteacher and School, a ‘sounding’ board at a local level 
and to ensure that BEST values remain at the heart of the school community.  Currently, there are two LGB’s; 
a SEMH LGB and a SEND LGB.  There is also a School Improvement Board (SIB) for Warren School 
(sponsored by BEST), which comprises Trust nominees, the Headteacher, School Business Manager, staff 
and a parent representative to drive the school’s continued improvement and hold the Headteacher and 
senior leadership to account for the school’s performance. 
 
Each school has a School Leadership Team consisting of the senior management of the school.  These 
teams are responsible for the day to day operation of the schools, organising the staff, curriculum design and 
delivery, facilities and the well-being and outcomes of pupils. 
 
Across BEST, the Trustees and Governors work in close partnership with the Executive Team and individual 
Headteachers and School Leadership Teams.  This decision-making structure operates within a detailed 
Scheme of Delegation and the terms of reference for each layer/body.  
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel 
Key management personnel for BEST are the members of the Executive Team and the members of the 
Headteacher Team, as listed under the Senior Management Team on page 3. 
 

The Trust Board with the exclusion of the CEO holds the responsibility to set the pay and remuneration of 
the Executive Team. This includes the approval of any increments awarded. The Trust Board reviews all of 
the pay recommendations for the Executive Team. Responsibility for setting the pay and remuneration for 
the Headteachers and the school’s Senior Leadership Team is delegated to the LGBs or SIB, if in place. Pay 
is determined by reviewing market factors and with regard to the financial position of the Trust in the current 
year and the longer term. 
 

The Trust’s personnel salaries are set in accordance with the Trust’s Pay Policy, which is reviewed annually 
in line with the School Teacher’s Pay and Condition Document (STPCD). The Trust personnel pay scales 
are set in line with the National Pay Awards for Teacher’s and Suffolk County Council pay scales.  The Trust 
outlines all aspects of pay awards within the Trust’s Pay Policy, which is adopted by each school.  
 

Trade unions facility time 
The Board approved the decision to continue to be part of the Facilities Time agreement with Suffolk County 
Council.  This ensures that members are able to be supported by the appropriate unions recognised by 
Suffolk County Council.  The cost to the Trust for this period was £898. 
 

During the financial year, there were no official union representatives based at the schools within the Trust.  
However, the schools promote and support the individual unions to meet with their members to provide 
relevant, appropriate and robust support to staff members. 
 

Related Parties and other Connected Charities and Organisations 
BEST operates under the Seven Principles of Public Life, known as the Nolan Principles.  These are: 
 

 Selflessness  Openness 
 Integrity  Honesty 
 Objectivity  Leadership 
 Accountability  

 

We use these principles to guide the way we declare and deal with related party transactions, so that we are 
confident that we are operating fairly, transparently and we are open to scrutiny.  A register of Business 
Interests and Educational Affiliations for Members, Trustees, Headteachers, the schools’ Senior Leadership 
Team and budget holders is held and updated annually.  These Registers are used to inform the LGBs / SIB 
and the Board of any potential related party issues and ensure that any conflicts of interest are reported and 
managed appropriately.  
 

Potential for conflict of interest arises when an individual could gain, or be perceived to gain, from an aspect 
of the Trust’s business.  As required by the Trust’s Conflict of Interest Policy, all potential Conflicts of Interest 
are declared at the start of each meeting.  All purchasing decisions follow Board approved procurement and 
commissioning procedures. 
 

The Board is confident that any potential conflict of interest will be handled according to its Conflict of Interest 
Policy, which incorporates the Seven Principles of Public Life and in accordance with the Academies 
Financial Handbook. 
 

The Trust Board confirms that BEST does not have any relationship with any other charities / companies / 
organisations with which it cooperates in the pursuit of charitable activities.  
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

Stakeholder engagement: Delivering value 
The Board believe that to have the greatest impact on children’s’ education today and in the future, we need 
to take account of what is important to our stakeholders. This is best achieved through proactive, effective 
and continuous engagement. 
 
In accordance with SORP (FRS 102), we have outlined examples below of how we engage with employees 
and taken care of their interests, as well as how we have engaged with other stakeholders. By understanding 
our stakeholders, we can factor into Board discussions the potential impact of our decisions on our 
stakeholders and consider their needs and concerns. The Trustees consider the key stakeholders for BEST 
to be our pupils and their families, our employees and volunteers, our commissioning bodies and external 
agencies and our suppliers 
 
Engagement with our pupils and their families 
Trust schools engage directly with pupils and their families on at least a weekly and often a daily basis. We 
engage in two-way dialogues using telephone calls, emails and text messages to share any concerns, 
progress and achievements of pupils so that everyone involved can be kept up to date and participate in 
decision making.  
 
We know from pupil and parent questionnaires that regular contact is viewed positively by both pupils and 
parents. We are aware that it leads to improved decisions being made concerning pupils. During the Covid-
19 pandemic disruption, pupils and their families have told us that they valued all of the Trust’s schools 
remaining open throughout, which enabled pupils to continue their education and parents to send their child 
to school. 
 
Engagement with our staff and volunteers 
Our schools undertake regular communication with employees to support communication. During the Covid-
19 pandemic, this has included virtual meetings, staff questionnaires and regular bulletins and newsletters. 
This has proved to be very successful in engaging with those staff who are employed on a part-time basis, 
as well as those unable to access the work-place, due to the elevated risks from Covid-19 for them and / or 
their immediate family members. 
 
Consultations over policies and local decisions are supported through the school communication systems, 
and the use of LGBs / SIB, on which all staff have representation. 
 
The School Improvement Plans are the major plans for developing the performance of the Trust, and are 
shared with all staff, and the wider school community via the school websites.  All our schools are driven by 
Government performance frameworks and regulations originating from the Department for Education and 
monitored by OFSTED.  All the related documents are publicly available to all and shared with staff through 
specific training sessions throughout the year and reported through the SEN Report.  
 
Within the Trust recruitment procedures, the application form has a section that allows any applicant with a 
disability to request support within the interview procedure. An Occupational Health Assessment is 
undertaken prior to an applicant’s contract being implemented to ensure that any reasonable adjustments 
are identified and implemented with immediate effect. Any person employed with an identified disability is 
supported through Risk Assessments, and Occupational Health Advice to ensure that they are able to be an 
effective member of staff.  This applies to all posts within all schools, and appointments are always based 
upon ability to be effective in the role. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

BEST ensures that: 

 Disabled staff are offered the same conditions of service, employment rights, promotion and training 
opportunities as other staff in the same role in each academy. 

 Disabled staff are encouraged to bring any complaints about their treatment as a disabled member 
of staff to the notice of the Headteacher, in the first instance.  All staff have access to the Trust’s 
Grievance procedure if they consider this to be the best route.  

 
Engagement with our commissioning bodies and external agencies 
The Headteachers and senior leaders of our schools are in daily / weekly contact with Suffolk County 
Council’s (SCC) Inclusion Services, our key commissioning body, concerning pupil related matters. Meetings 
this year have predominantly been held using virtual meeting applications. Staff are also in daily / weekly 
contact with external agencies which support our pupils and their families; for example, Social Services, 
Youth Offending, NHS Foundation Trusts, GPs, Speech and Language Therapists. The regular, pupil 
focussed communications with our commissioning bodies and external agencies have resulted in better 
informed and timely decision making to the benefit of pupils and their families. 
 
This year SCC has sought provider’s feedback on part of its High Needs Strategy to introduce significant 
changes to its county-wide Service Level Agreements for its Alternative Provision and Specialist providers, 
including High Needs funding tariffs. Trust staff provided extensive feedback on these changes. These 
discussions provided a better understanding of SCC’s strategy and their short to medium term needs. 
 
Engagement with our suppliers 
The CFO and School Business Managers communicate with our suppliers on a very regular basis to ensure 
that we are aware of their products and services and to build a professional relationship with them. 
 
During the Covid-19 pandemic, the Trust has been in the privileged position of having an uninterrupted 
income stream, which allowed all of its staff to remain working full time on full pay. 2019/20 has been 
extraordinarily difficult for many of our suppliers, many of which are small specialist businesses.  Following 
the Cabinet Office guidance, our schools, worked with our suppliers to continue to use their services during 
this challenging period, as well as being responsive in making prompt payments against their invoices.  The 
aim of these measures was to support our suppliers with their normal contract delivery to ensure high quality 
service continuity for our schools for the benefit of our pupils. 
 
We have reviewed a number of our Trust-wide contracts with our suppliers. In discussion with existing and 
new suppliers, we have developed new contracts for supplies and services, which have been advantageous 
for the Trust. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

Objectives and Activities 
 
Objects and Aims 
BEST’s objective through establishing, maintaining, carrying-on, managing and developing schools, offering 
a broad and balanced curriculum is to provide: 

 Full-time education for children of compulsory school age, or part-time for whom by reason of illness, 
exclusion from school or otherwise, may not for any period receive suitable education unless 
alternative provision is made for them. 

 An ambitious curriculum appropriate to the needs of 2-19-year olds. 
 Schools specifically organised to deliver an individual, specialist provision for pupils with complex 

SEND and SEMH needs. 
 

We aim to: 

 Place the child at the centre of everything we do. 
 Build a strong reputation for always ‘going the extra mile’ for all our children and young people. 
 Provide an ambitious holistic bespoke offer for each of our children and young people. 
 Help our learners to recognise their successes and achievements. 
 Nurture and promote a ‘can do’ ethos in our schools. 
 Create an inclusive, challenging and supportive learning environment where everyone feels valued 

and can enjoy the experience of learning. 
 Ensure all our students have equal access to a range of learning activities, whatever their need. 
 To seek out partnership opportunities with agencies and organisations within our local communities, 

to ensure learning goes beyond the school environment.  
 
Objectives, Strategies and Activities 
The Trust became operational in February 2019 and so we are in our second year. During this year, the Trust 
has acted in the following areas to achieve its objectives: 

 Consolidated its financial control which has streamlined the monitoring of income and expenditure 
against budget. 

 Expanded and consolidated the use of specialist software for tracking behaviour and safeguarding. 
 Reviewed and reinvigorated the curricula to ensure appropriate personalised challenge for all pupils 

which is highly responsive to changes in their on-going needs. 
 In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, very swiftly redesigned how teaching and learning is 

delivered across the Trust by blending onsite classes with remote / home based learning. 
 Invested in staff development via for example the NPQEL course for The Albany Headteacher and 

staff undertaking other professional qualifications. 
 Delivered cross MAT CPD, often with a ‘train the trainer’ dissemination approach. 
 Ensured compliance with GDPR. 
 Submitted Free School applications, as opportunities arose. 

 
Public Benefit 
As laid out in our Articles of Association, our charitable activities aim to ensure that our schools provide for 
the public benefit a broad and balanced education for pupils not able to access mainstream education 
because of their complex educational needs. Trust aims and activities demonstrate the public benefit 
because most pupils have multiple and complex educational needs and disabilities and the progress and 
achievement of these children through attending our schools.  We also provide sustained employment for 
over 260 people.  
 
The Trustees have complied with their duty to have due regard to the guidance on public benefit issued by 
the Charity Commission in exercising their powers and duties.   
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

Strategic Report 
 
Achievements and Performance 
BEST has completed its second year of operation.  Its teams are now well established and have embedded 
fully the procedures in line with their annual time frame.  

Specific Achievements for the Trust include: 

 Remaining open throughout the pandemic offering provision either within school or through a highly 
personalised virtual offer. 

 94% of Y11 students at The Albany achieved GCSEs in English, mathematics and double science, 
with 6% achieving grade 4 in both English and mathematics, One third of students achieving grade 
4 or above in maths, and 6 % achieving at least a grade 4 in double science. 

 One student at The Albany, who was not GCSE appropriate, achieved Entry Level 3 in English and 
mathematics and an Entry Level 2 and Entry Level 3 in double science. 

 One Albany student achieved grade 9 in Polish. 
 Other students achieved accreditation including Entry Level Accreditation 
 

Year group Total % gained Entry level 1 Entry level 2 Entry level 3 

KS4 84% 9 4 - 

6th Form 100% 10 6 2 

 

 Pupils at KS4 and Post 16 at Riverwalk School gained at least 4 AQA Unit Awards to accredit learning 
in 2020.  

 Warren students took part in the second year of a Mock Interview project with three local businesses, 
following a specific learning programme for 6th Form students. 

 The Albany students led and participated in on site work experience through a build project funded 
by the Police and Crime Commissioner’s office. 

 Carlton Colville Parish Council awarded a grant to undertake the creation of a Rock Choir, 
culminating in participation in the Celebration 2020 Festival at Snape Maltings. 

 Running a very successful Summer School Camp for Year 11 pupils at The Albany during the 
summer break delivering a recovery curriculum following Covid-19 disruption to support their 
transition to post-16 education, funded by Suffolk County Council’s Skills Team. 

 The Albany being the only Alternative Provision in the country to take part in the Shakespeare 
Festival. 

 East Suffolk Council Youth Challenge taking part in the programme to increase community 
involvement in local decision making. 

 School’s Council met with the Local MP following a letter to East Suffolk Council raising concerns 
about a local play park. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

Key Performance Indicators 
The overall aim for the Trust is that pupils can achieve to their full potential, and thus the drive for each school 
is to be rated as Good or Outstanding by Ofsted.  As the remit of Ofsted is to inspect special schools within 
a three-yearly cycle, the Trust approved the engagement of all the schools in the Challenge Partners 
Programme and Annual Reviews.  Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there have been no external reviews of 
any schools.  
 
The Board and Executive Team monitors the Trust’s key performance indicators on a regular basis.  Financial 
Performance Indicators have formed a significant part of the Trustees’ review of the current provisions, 
ensuring that each school is able to make the appropriate budget spending based upon income and the 
expected level of funds are made available to meet the needs of the children placed within each setting. As 
approximately 74% of expenditure is spent on staffing, the Trust monitors the ratio of employed to supply 
staff and the number of staff vacancies regularly to ensure that staffing in place provides the optimum value 
for money. Benchmarking both internally and externally has been used to inform the budget planning process 
and evaluate the current spending.  
 
Teaching and Learning 
Whilst most schools closed during the first lock-down from March onwards due to Covid-19, our schools all 
remained open throughout this period including during the Easter holiday and Summer Term half-term. It is 
testament to the dedication, resilience and stamina of our staff that they continued to provide teaching and 
learning to our pupils in such challenging times. During this period, the schools also provided support to 
pupils’ families. This was especially valuable as many of their usual external support agencies were operating 
at significantly reduced capacity. In recognition, of the negative impact to their learning due to the disruption 
of Covid-19, in agreement with Suffolk County Council, The Albany staff ran catch-up lessons for Year 11 
students during August with staff volunteering to forego their holidays. 
 
From a teaching and learning perspective, all schools monitor the development, progress and outcomes of 
pupils every term and for some measures half-termly.  During the period of 2019/20, a significant period of 
disruption caused by the pandemic has led to the implementation of a recovery curriculum and very close 
monitoring of individual progress, as most pupils needed some additional support for ‘catch-up’.  
 
During the Covid19 pandemic, the Trust’s full focus has been on operating its schools safely. This plus 
uncertainty beyond education means that consideration of major Trust led investments was shelved. 
However, investments were made by the LGBs in training for the staff and enhancing their educational 
facilities and equipment.  This included initiating a development programme to create outdoor play areas for 
Riverwalk School and an EYFS play area at Warren School. 

 
We remain committed to and are investing in our staff through CPD to expand their skills and professional 
opportunities and improving the school learning environments to ensure that every pupil has the best possible 
educational experience and opportunities for personal growth.  
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Trustees’ Report (continued) 

Going Concern 
The Trust Board has approved an annual budget and three-year budget forecast.  As at 31st August 2020, 
the Trust held a healthy financial surplus with all the schools operating at or very near to capacity.  
 
After making appropriate enquiries, the Board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the Trust has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  For this reason, it 
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  Further details regarding 
the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting Policies.  
 
The Board believes that they have acted throughout the year in the best interests of the charity and in a 
manner, which will bring about long-term success. 
 
Promoting the success of the company 
BEST is promoted through the following main communication channels: 

 A dedicated website for Believe Engage Succeed Trust plus each  school has their own website.  On 
these websites is information about the setting, as well as the resources for parents to support 
learning in the home.  Newsletters and key successes are also promoted in links to YouTube and 
Twitter. 

 Schools have very positive links with the local press and this supports the informing of parents and 
stakeholders about resources that have been donated to the schools.  

 School websites are linked to Suffolk Local Offer to support families and professionals to 
demonstrate the effectiveness of the provisions. 

 
Specific successes shared included: 

 The Official Opening of the new site for Riverwalk School by the Duchess of Gloucester in November 
2019.  This event was attended by Lord Lieutenant of Suffolk, Suffolk County Council Councillors 
and Officers, Trust representatives alongside parents and families. 

 Press release relating to the successful participation of The Albany students in the Coram 
Shakespeare Project for the third year running: 
https://www.shakespeareschools.org/impact/success-stories#laurens-story 

 The Albany’s first Summer School Camp was publicised in Suffolk News:  
https://www.suffolknews.co.uk/bury-st-edmunds/news/first-ever-summer-camp-is-great-success-
9122802/ 

 
Financial Review 
 
The Financial Year 2019-2020 was the Trust’s first full 12-month period of trading. Whilst the company was 
incorporated in February 2016, it was not until February 2019 that it became operational through the academy 
conversion of its three schools. This difference affects all comparisons between 2018-2019 (7 months 
trading) and 2019-2020 (full 12 months trading).  
 
During the period, the financial impact of complying with DfE Covid-19 regulations and guidance has been 
to increase expenditure by £26k to ensure the safe operation of our schools. This additional expenditure was 
split between additional safety measures including installing hand sanitizers, the purchase of PPE and 
regular whole school cleaning, and additional learning resources to support pupils. The Trust has not 
reclaimed these exceptional costs because we have added to our free reserves from 2018/19, which under 
the DfE reimbursement scheme, renders the Trust ineligible for any reimbursement. Additional Covid-19 
related costs will continue into 2020-2021.  
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Trustees’ Report (continued) 

The Trust's income is obtained from the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) in the form of recurrent 
grants and also the High Needs Top-up funding received from the Local Authority, both of which are restricted 
to use for educational purposes. These funding streams received during the period ended 31 August 2020 
and the associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the Statement of Financial Activities. For 
the year to 31 August 2020, the Trust received total income of £7,901k (2019 7 months: £4,882k excluding 
capital grants and transfers on conversion from Local Authority). Some 78% of the Trust’s income was spent 
on salaries and support costs to deliver the Trust’s primary objective of the provision of education. An 
investment of £112k was made which included improvements to the educational facilities at Riverwalk and 
Warren see note 18. 
 
During the period ended 31 August 2020, total expenditure of £8,167k (which excludes depreciation) was 
more than total income of £7,901k (which excludes capital grants). The in-year deficit of expenditure over 
income before transfers, pension fund movements, and restricted fixed asset movements was £266k, 
represented by an increase in unrestricted general funds of £71k and a reduction in restricted general funds 
of £337k.  The  in-year deficit on the restricted general fund is after deduction of a non-recurring settlement 
amount of £287k that arose following resolution of a dispute with Suffolk County Council and which will be 
paid in the following financial period (note 3.).  If this non-recurring amount is excluded, the Trust would have 
reported an in-year deficit of £50k on the restricted general fund. 
 
The recognition of transfers, pension fund movements and restricted fixed asset movements have resulted 
in a reported deficit for the period of £1,700k. 
 
From 2018-2019, the Trust brought forward £22,739k of restricted funds excluding the pension reserve and 
£784k of unrestricted funding. The carry forward for 2019-2020 is £22,316k of restricted funding excluding 
the pension reserve and £855k of unrestricted funding. 
 
At 31 August 2020, the net book value of fixed assets was £21,647k (2019: £22,087k). Movements in 
intangible fixed assets are shown in note 13 and tangible assets in note 14. The assets were used exclusively 
for providing education and the associated support services to the pupils of the Trust. 
 
In accordance with FRS 102, the Trust received an actuarial assessment of its pension scheme deficit. The 
deficit balance of £3,997k as at 31 August 2020 (2019: £2,649k) is included within the balance sheet and 
details are included within note 27. Though the pension scheme represents a significant liability, it is not 
expected to be a significant issue for the Trust as any cash requirements are likely to be met through 
increased contributions over the remaining expected life of the schemes, rather than crystallising at one time. 
 
Contributions for the coming year are the primary factor for the Trust when considering the impact that the 
liability has on cash flow, and these have been appropriately reflected within forecasts and will be settled on 
a timely basis. 
 
Investment Policy 
During the financial period 2019/20, a Trust Investment Policy was part of the work stream for the Finance 
and Audit Committee. The aim of the Investment Policy is to ensure that funds which are not immediately 
needed to support the Trust’s operations are invested to maximise their return with minimal risk. Investing 
surplus funds is not a primary focus for the Trust but nevertheless good stewardship of any surplus public 
funds needs to be considered. 
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Reserves Policy 
The Trustees through determining and approving the Trust’s Reserves, have determined that an appropriate 
level of funds retained should be at least equivalent to a minimum of one month and ideally two months of 
its expenditure averaged over the preceding six months.  This reserve level is to enable the Trust to react to 
unforeseen budget changes within a manageable period.  The Trustees monitor forecast year-end in-year 
and carry forward reserves via Monthly Management Accounts from the CFO. They also monitor cash flows 
on a monthly basis. The Trust’s reserves commitment as at 31st August 2020 was £671k (2019: £634k). 
 

The total of restricted general funds before pension reserve and unrestricted funds (and therefore free 
reserves given the recurrent nature of the restricted general funds with an Academy Trust) held at 31st August 
2020 was a surplus of £1,461k (2019: £1,386k), which was above the minimum reserve commitment.  
 

To mitigate the risk of future income reduction, the Trustees may establish further reserves on an annual 
basis. 
 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
The Trust maintains a comprehensive risk register which is reviewed, updated as necessary and approved 
termly by the Trustees. A formal review of the Risk Register is made annually. The Risk Register includes 
an owner of the risk, its likelihood, its impact and mitigating actions to address the risk and finally the post 
mitigation risk level. All risks are RAG rated using both the pre- and post-mitigation likelihoods and impacts. 
The internal control systems and the exposure to the risks covered by these systems are monitored on behalf 
of the Trustees by the Finance and Audit Committee. 
 

During the period, the major challenges faced by the Trust and its schools are summarised below: 
 

 Covid-19 pandemic – The impact on the Trust’s schools since the beginning of 2020 has been 
significant. Staff have worked extremely hard for a prolonged period of time since the first lock-down 
in March to ensure the pupils are safe and provided with as much learning as possible. Sustained 
additional work has been needed to re-design school operations. Covid-19 pandemic has also had 
a high impact on staff themselves, especially where they and/ or their family members are vulnerable. 
The Trustees anticipate that this extraordinary challenge will continue into 2021. 
 

 Changes in Funding levels from the Local Authority – During the year, the Local Authority has been 
developing its new banding system for Top-up funding. This has generated uncertainties concerning 
which pupils will be allocated to which band and the outcomes of any moderation. As this source of 
funding is typically more than 50% of pupil’s funding, changes to this system represent a significant 
financial risk to all of the Trust’s schools. This challenge will remain for 2020-2021 as the new system 
beds in. 
 

 Defined Benefit Pension Liability – The Government has agreed to meet the defined benefit pension 
deficit of any Trust ceasing to exist. The main risk to the Trust is limited to the annual funding of part 
of the deficit from its income. Trustees take these payments into account during each budget 
planning cycle. 

 

The Trust is committed to improving its risk management processes and raising staff awareness of risks and 
mitigating actions to be taken. 

 
Fundraising 
The Academy Trust does not use any external fundraisers.  All fundraising undertaken during the period was 
monitored by the schools’ LGBs or SIB.  No complaints have been registered against the Academy Trust 
during the period under review. 
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 
 

UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy data for the period  
1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020 
 

 

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh) 
 

1,195,699 

Scope 1 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 
Gas consumption 
Owned transport – mini buses 
Total scope 1 
 

 
154.88 

8.99 
163.87 

Scope 2 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 
Purchased electricity 
 

 
68.75 

Scope 3 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 
Business travel in employee owned vehicles 
 

 
8.52 

Total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 
 

241.13 

Intensity ratio 
Tonnes CO2e per pupil 
 

 
0.72 

Quantification and Reporting Methodology:-  
 
We have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have also used the 
GHG Reporting Protocol – Corporate Standard and have used the 2020 UK Government’s Conversion 
Factors for Company Reporting.  
 
Intensity measurement  
The chosen intensity measurement ratio is total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e per pupil, the 
recommended ratio for the sector.  
 
Measures taken to improve energy efficiency  
We have installed solar panels on two of the three provisions, where the roof is compatible with installation  
requirements.  We have also installed and developed effective use of Internet based conferencing and 
regular virtual meetings to reduce the need for travel between sites.  
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Plans for Future Periods 
We work with pupils who present the most challenge to engage in learning to such an extent that they are 
unable to access mainstream education. BEST will continue its commitment to improve the education of 
these children with the most complex additional needs across all of the Trust’s schools. In doing this, we will 
further strengthen our close working partnerships with mainstream schools in order to share expertise for the 
benefit of our learners. 
 
The Board and the Executive Team are working effectively with Local Governing Bodies and school 
leadership teams.  Over the coming year, the Trust will continue to develop the close working between its 
schools and Trust wide policies in order to realise the benefits of being part of a multi-academy trust.  Work 
is underway to ensure that across the Trust, as the single employer, there is consistency of roles and their 
grading. BEST will also continue to identify and implement any economies of scale across the Trust in order 
to deliver increased value for public money.  
 
We will work with the Local Authority, the Regional Schools’ Commissioner, the Department for Education 
and other Academy Trusts to identify potential schools to join the Trust that are well matched to our vision 
and ethos and where we can have a positive impact to the benefit of other schools. 
 
Funds Held as Custodian Trustee on Behalf of Others 
BEST and its Trustees did not act as a custodian trustee during the current or previous periods. The Trustees 
do not anticipate that the Trust will in the future hold any funds as custodian for any third party. 
 
Auditor 
Ensors Accountants LLP was reappointed auditor to the charitable company. Ensors Accountants LLP has 
indicated its willingness to continue in office. 
 
The Trustees have confirmed that in so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the charitable company’s auditor is unaware and the Trustees have taken all the steps they ought to have 
taken in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor 
is aware of any such information. 
 
The Trustees’ report incorporating a Strategic Report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees in 
their capacity as directors at a meeting on the 10th December 2020 and signed on the Board’s behalf by: 
 

 
Vivienne Hughes 
Chair of the Trust Board 
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Governance Statement 

Scope of Responsibility 
As Trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that the Believe Engage Succeed 
Trust has an effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise.  These systems have been 
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide 
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss. As such they can only provide reasonable but 
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
 
As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE’s Governance Handbook and 
competency framework for governance. 
 
The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer, as the 
Accounting Officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements and responsibilities 
assigned to it in the funding agreement between Believe Engage Succeed Trust and the Secretary of State 
for Education.  The Accounting Officer is also responsible for reporting to the Trustees any material 
weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control. 
 

Governance 
 
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees’ report and in the 
statement of Trustees’ responsibilities.  The Board has met eight times during the year. Attendance during 
the year at meetings of the Trustees was as follows: 

Trustee Meetings attended Out of Possible 

Vivienne Hughes (Chair) 8 8 

Nicola Stokes (Vice-Chair) 8 8 

Janice Hatchell (CEO/Accounting Officer) 8 8 

Michael Hemingway (Resigned) 6 8 

Gulshan Kayembe 5 8 

Andrew Mason 7 8 

Jennifer Hanlon 7 8 

Richard Fletcher 6 6 

Christopher Hodgson (Resigned) 0 1 

 

During the year, The Trustees agreed some key changes to its governance. The Board continued its 
engagement with the Academy Ambassadors and also its Trustees’ personal networks which resulted in the 
successful recruitment of a new Trustee to expand the skills combination to ensure effective oversight of the 
impact against the Trust’s aims and objectives.  
 
Following the DfE alerting the Trust to an execution error in its Funding Agreements, the DfE and the Trust 
agreed and executed Deeds of Confirmation for the Master Funding Agreement, the Supplemental Funding 
Agreements for The Albany, for Riverwalk and for Warren. 
 
All Board, LGB and SIB meetings during 2019-2020 have been professionally clerked with consistently high 
level of attendance from Trustees and Governors. 
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This year, the main challenges and work completed by the Board have been: 

 Right from the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, ensuring that the Trust’s schools remained open 
and operated safely for all of its pupils, their families and staff against a backdrop of everchanging 
Government regulations and guidance. 

 Agreeing and embedding Trust KPIs covering financial and educational measures. 
 Approving new Trust policies including Trustee Induction Policy, revised Pay Policy (2019-2020), 

Capitalisation Policy, School Complaints Policy, VAT Policy and Virtual Meeting Policy. 
 Overseen checks within the school operations highlighting purchasing policies and tighter control of 

these areas. 
 Determining the Trust’s Equality Objectives and revising the Terms of Reference for Trust LGBs-

and-SIBs. 
 Responding to a dispute with Suffolk County Council concerning Top-up invoices for February 2019 

and March 2019. 
 Through an informed budget planning process, determining the optimum balance between budgetary 

constraints and investing in the future either through staff development and / or improvements to 
educational facilities. 

 Monitoring the continued support and guidance provided to our sponsored school, Warren Special 
School, to ensure that the school continues to make rapid and sustainable improvement. 
 

Governance Reviews 
 
During the period, the Trustees have conducted the following reviews: 
 

 The Trust Board commissioned two external NLGs to conduct an External Review of Governance. 
This review was completed during December 2019 and January 2020. 

 NGA Skills audit completed by Trustees to identify any skills gaps. 
 Chair of the Trustees meets every six weeks to review the Trust’s Management Accounts with the 

CFO. 
 Identified and explored Special School Free School opportunities, as they arose. 
 Analysed and reported on the Gender Pay Gap for the Trust. 
 A Trust-wide review of Educational Health and Care Plans in terms of both the quality of those 

provided by the local authority and also internal review processes. 
 
The Finance and Audit Committee was established, as a sub-committee of the Board following the 
recruitment of suitably qualified and experienced Trustees, on the 28th November 2019.  Its main duties are 
to: 
 

 fulfil its responsibilities in line with the requirements of the Trust’s Funding Agreement, Articles of 
Association, Scheme of Delegation, Academies Financial Handbook, Academies Accounts 
Direction and the Trust’s Financial Policies and Procedures.  

 ensure sound management of the Trust’s finances and resources including proper planning, 
monitoring, probity and value for money (VfM). 

 advise the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Trust’s governance, risk management, 
internal control and VfM systems and frameworks. 

 advise the Board on the appointment, re-appointment, dismissal and remuneration of the external 
auditor. 

 advise the Board on the need for and then, where appropriate, the appointment, reappointment, 
dismissal and remuneration of an internal auditor or other assurance provider. 
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Attendance at meetings during the year was as follows; 
 

Trustee Meetings attended Out of a Possible 

Andrew Mason (Chair) 6 6 

Nicola Stokes (Vice-Chair) 6 6 

Jennifer Hanlon 6 6 

 
At the invitation of the Finance and Audit Committee, the Trust CFO and the Chair of the Board attended 
their meetings to provide additional information, where required.  
 

Review of Value for Money 
 

As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for ensuring that the academy trust 
delivers good value in the use of public resources.  The Accounting Officer understands that value for money 
refers to the educational and wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received.  
 

The Accounting Officer considers how the Trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for money 
during each academic year, and reports for the Board of Trustees where value for money can be improved, 
including the use of benchmarking data where appropriate.  The Accounting Officer for the academy trust 
has delivered value for money during the year by: 
 

 using economies of scale available as a Multi-Academy Trust with purchasing of buildings and 
grounds maintenance services which has reduced the cost to the trust as a whole. 

 regular Trust wide reviews of external services currently purchased to consider opportunities to 
provide services internally and therefore provide value for money and a more effective service. 

 development of shared positions with the Trust to improve quality of provision and the development 
of job descriptions to facilitate effective time management e.g. SEND Officer, based at Riverwalk to 
support all of the Trust’s schools. 

 

The Purpose of the System of Internal Control 
 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives.  It can, therefore, only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The system of internal control is based on an on-going process 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Trust policies, aims and objectives, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage 
them effectively and economically.  The system of internal control has been in place in Believe Engage 
Succeed Trust for the period 1st September 2019 to 31st August 2020 and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and financial statements.  
 

Capacity to Handle Risk  
 

The Board has reviewed the key risks to which BEST is exposed together with the operating, financial and 
compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. Trustees are of the view that there 
is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Trust's significant risks that has 
been in place for the period to 31st August 2020 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and 
financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the Board. 
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The Risk and Control Framework 
The Trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management information 
and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and 
accountability.  In particular, it includes: 
 

 comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial 
reports which are reviewed and agreed by the Trustees. 

 regular reviews by the Finance and Audit Committee of reports which indicate financial performance 
against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes. 

 setting KPI targets to measure financial and other performance. 
 clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines. 
 identification and management of risks through regular updates and reviews of the Risk Register. 

 

In July 2019, the Trustees received an Internal Audit report from an external provider. This report reported 
on checks carried out across all three schools including: 
 

 testing of payroll systems. 
 testing of purchase systems. 
 testing of control accounts, cash and bank reconciliations. 
 testing of compliance with the scheme of delegation and internal controls. 
 testing of financial planning and monitoring. 

 

During this period, with the establishment of the Trust’s Finance and Audit Committee, the Trust has used 
the financially qualified and experienced members of this committee to provide internal financial control 
including the management of risks and report on this via their meeting minutes and also directly to the Board.  
No material control issues have arisen, as a result of this work. Due to the significant impact of the COVID-
19 pandemic on the Trust, the Internal Audit using an external provider identified for the Summer Term was 
delayed until the Autumn Term 2020. This audit will complement the July 2019 one by investigating Financial 

Planning and Monitoring in more detail, VAT and Fixed Assets, again testing at a school level. 
 

Review of Effectiveness 

As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. During the period in question, the review has been informed by: 
 

 the work of the internal auditor. 
 the work of the external auditor. 
 the financial management and governance self-assessment process. 
 the work of the executive managers within BEST who have responsibility for the development and 

maintenance of the internal control framework. 
 
The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of 
internal control by the Board of Trustees and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place. 
 
Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 10th December 2020 and signed on its behalf 
by: 

     
Vivienne Hughes  
Chair of Trustees    

 Janice Hatchell  
 Accounting Officer 
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Statement on Regularity, Propriety and Compliance  
 
As Accounting Officer of Believe Engage Succeed Trust, I have considered my responsibility to notify the 
Academy Trust Board of Trustees and the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, 
impropriety and non-compliance with terms and conditions of all funding received by the Academy Trust, 
under the funding agreement in place between the Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. 
As part of my consideration, I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook 
2019. 
 
I confirm that I and the Academy Trust Board of Trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper 
use of all funds by the Academy Trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding 
under the Academy Trust’s funding agreement and the Academies Financial Handbook 2019. 
 
I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been 
discovered to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the 
Board of Trustees and ESFA. 
 
 

 
Janice Hatchell 
Accounting Officer 

10th December 2020 
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Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities  

The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are 
responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with the 
Academies Accounts Direction published by the Education and Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and 
regulations.  
 
Company law requires the Trustees to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year.  Under company 
law, the Trustees must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application 
of resources, including its income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing these Financial Statements 
the Trustees are required to: 
 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently 
 observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts 

Direction 2019 to 2020 
 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent 
 state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements 
 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the charitable company will continue in business 
 
The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the charitable company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
 
The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies 
financial and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial 
management.  They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from ESFA/DfE have been applied for 
the purposes intended. 
 
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the charitable company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislations in other jurisdictions.  
 
Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 10th December 2020 and signed on its behalf 
by: 

 
Vivienne Hughes        
Chair of Trustees 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements to 
the Members of Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Believe Engage Succeed Trust for the period ended 31 August 
2020 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and 
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) 
including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”,  the 
Charities SORP 2019 and the Annual Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency. 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Academy Trust’s affairs as at 31 August 2020, and of its 
incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the period 
then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities SORP 
2019 and the Annual Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by the Education and Skills Funding 
Agency. 

 
Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilies under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where: 

 the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is not appropriate; or 

 the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements to 
the Members of Believe Engage Succeed Trust (continued) 

Other information 
 
The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Trustees’ annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except for the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is 
a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit: 

 the information given in the Trustees’ Report (incorporating the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report) 
for the financial period for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and 

 the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 certain disclosures of Trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 

Responsibilities of Trustees 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilites set out on page 23, the Trustees (who 
are also the directors of the Academy Trust for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 

internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements to 
the Members of Believe Engage Succeed Trust (continued) 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Audit/Audit-and-assurance/Standards-and-
guidance/Standards-and-guidance-for-auditors/Auditors-responsibilities-for-audit/Description-of-auditors-
responsibilities-for-audit.aspx. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
 

Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Academy Trust’s Members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Academy 
Trust’s Members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Academy Trust and its Members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 
 
 
 
 
Helen Rumsey FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)   
 
For and on behalf of: 
 
Ensors Accountants LLP 
Cardinal House 
46 St Nicholas Street 
Ipswich 
IP1 1TT 

ross.farrell
Typewritten text
16 December 2020
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Independent Reporting Accountant’s Assurance Report on 
Regularity to Believe Engage Succeed Trust and the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency  

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 1 July 2019 and further to the requirements of 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 
2020, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure 
disbursed and income received by Believe Engage Succeed Trust during the year to 31 August 2020 have 
been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 

Respective responsibilities of Believe Engage Succeed Trust Accounting Officer and the 
reporting accountant 

The Accounting Officer is responsible, under the requirements of Believe Engage Succeed Trust funding 
agreement with the Secretary of State for Education dated 6 February 2019 and the Academies Financial 
Handbook, extant from 1 September 2019, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is 
applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical 
guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the 
requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020. We report to you whether anything has 
come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure 
disbursed and income received during the year to 31 August 2020 have not been applied to purposes 
intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Approach 

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued 
by the ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter. 

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and 
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on 
regularity.  

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters 
that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive 
opinion. 

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety 
of the Academy Trust’s income and expenditure. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Independent Reporting Accountant’s Assurance Report on 
Regularity to Believe Engage Succeed Trust and the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (continued) 

In planning and conducting our work we had due regard to professional guidance, including the Academies 
Accounts Direction 2019 and the ICAEW Assurance Sourcebook. The work undertaken to draw to our 
conclusion, includes, but is not limited to: 

 Enquiry of senior management and the Academy Trust’s Trustees. 

 Inspection and review of the accounting records, meeting minutes, internal control procedures, 
management representations and declarations of interest. 

 Observation and re-performance of the financial controls. 

 Review of the results of the Academy Trust’s process of independent checking of financial controls, 
systems, transactions and risks. 

Conclusion 

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the 
expenditure disbursed and income received during the year to 31 August 2020 has not been applied to 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 

This report is made solely to Believe Engage Succeed Trust and the ESFA in accordance with the terms of 
our engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to Believe Engage Succeed 
Trust and the ESFA those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Believe Engage 
Succeed Trust and the ESFA, for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed. 

 

 

Reporting Accountant 

Ensors Accountants LLP 
Cardinal House 
46 St Nicholas Street 
Ipswich 
IP1 1TT 
 
Date:  

 

  

ross.farrell
Typewritten text
16 December 2020
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 
Statement of Financial Activities 
for the year ended 31 August 2020 

(including Income and Expenditure Account) 
 

Note 

Unrestricted 
general 

£ 

Restricted 
general 

£ 

Restricted 
fixed asset 

fund 
£ 

31 August 
2020 

£ 

31 August 
2019 

£ 
Income from:       

Donations and capital grants 2 5,575 30,111 22,672 58,358 75,780 
Transfer from local authority 
on conversion 

 - - - - 21,499,803 

Charitable activities       
Funding for the Academy 
Trust’s educational operations 

3 - 7,571,643 - 7,571,643 4,654,304 

Other trading activities 4 65,585 227,637 - 293,222 209,543 
Investments 5 351 - - 351 305 

        

Total income  71,511 7,829,391 22,672 7,923,574 26,439,735 

       
Expenditure on:       
Raising funds 6 383 273,675 - 274,058 171,018 

Charitable activities       

Grants 7 - 9,981 - 9,981 - 
Academy Trust’s educational 
operations 

8 - 7,882,802 561,603 8,444,405 4,667,380 

       

Total expenditure  383 8,166,458 561,603 8,728,444 4,838,398 

       
Net income / (expenditure) 
before transfers 

 71,128 (337,067) (538,931) (804,870) 21,601,337 

       

Transfers between funds 18 - (112,241) 112,241 - - 

       
Net income/(expenditure) 
before other recognised 
gains/losses 

 71,128 (449,308) (426,690) (804,870) 21,601,337 

       
Other recognised gains / 
(losses): 

      

Gain/loss on defined benefit 
pension schemes 

18,27 - (895,000) - (895,000) (728,000) 

Net movement in funds  71,128 (1,344,308) (426,690) (1,699,870) 20,873,337 
       
Reconciliation of funds       
Total funds brought forward   783,808 (2,047,044) 22,136,573 20,873,337 - 

Total funds carried forward   854,936 (3,391,352) 21,709,883 19,173,467 20,873,337 
 
All of the Academy Trust’s activities derive from continuing operations during the above two financial 
periods. 
 
A Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses is not required as all gains and losses are included in 
the Statement of Financial Activities. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Statement of Financial Activities 
for the period ended 31 August 2019 (comparative period) 

(including Income and Expenditure Account) 
 

Note 

Unrestricted 
general 

£ 

Restricted 
general 

£ 

Restricted 
fixed asset 

fund 
£ 

31 August 
2019 

£ 

25 August 
2018 

£ 
Income from:       

Donations and capital grants  10,020 7,602 58,158 75,780 - 
Transfer from local authority 
on conversion 

 735,690 (1,640,114) 22,404,227 21,499,803 - 

Charitable activities       
Funding for the Academy 
Trust’s educational operations 

 - 4,654,304 - 4,654,304 - 

Other trading activities  40,421 169,122 - 209,543 - 
Investments  305 - - 305 - 

        

Total income  786,436 3,190,914 22,462,385 26,439,735 - 

       
Expenditure       
Raising funds  2,628 168,390 - 171,018 - 
Charitable activities       

Grants  - - - - - 
Academy Trust’s educational 
operations 

 - 4,341,568 325,812 4,667,380 - 

       

Total expenditure  2,628 4,509,958 325,812 4,838,398 - 

       
Net income / (expenditure) 
before transfers 

 783,808 (1,319,044) 22,136,573 21,601,337 - 

       

Transfers between funds  - - - - - 

       
Net income/(expenditure) 
before other recognised 
gains/losses 

 
783,808 (1,319,044) 22,136,573 21,601,337 - 

       
Other recognised gains / 
(losses): 

      

Gain/loss on defined benefit 
pension schemes 

 - (728,000) - (728,000) - 

Net movement in funds  783,808 (2,047,044) 22,136,573 20,873,337 - 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Balance Sheet 
as at 31 August 2020     Company Number 10025988 

 
Notes  31 August 

2020 
£ 

31 August 
2020 

£ 

31 August 
2019 

£ 

31 August 
2019 

£ 
Fixed assets      

Intangible assets 13  18,715  23,301 
Tangible assets 14  21,628,683  22,063,733  

     
Current assets      
Debtors 15 552,493  490,751  
Cash at bank and in hand  1,652,775  1,247,214  

  2,205,268  1,737,965   
     

Liabilities      
Creditors: Amounts falling due 
within one year 

16 (682,199) 
 

(299,960) 
 

Net current assets   1,523,069  1,438,005  
     

Total assets less current 
liabilities 

 
 23,170,467  23,525,039 

 
     

Creditors: Amounts falling due after 
more than one year 

17 
 

-  (2,702) 

Net assets excluding pension 
liability 

 
 

23,170,467  23,522,337 

      
Defined benefit pension scheme 
liability 

27 
 

(3,997,000)  (2,649,000) 

Total net assets    19,173,467  20,873,337  
     

Funds of the Academy Trust:      
Restricted funds      

Fixed asset fund  21,709,883  22,136,573  
Restricted income fund  605,648  601,956  
Pension reserve  (3,997,000)  (2,649,000)  

Total restricted funds   18,318,531  20,089,529  
     

Unrestricted income funds   854,936  783,808 

Total funds 18  19,173,467  20,873,337 
 
The financial statements on pages 29-58 were approved by the Trustees and authorised for issue on           
10th December 2020 and are signed on their behalf by: 
 

    
Dr V Hughes     Mr A Mason 
Chair of Trustees    Trustee 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 
Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 August 2020 

 Notes 31 August 
2020 

£ 

31 August 
2019 

£ 
Cash flows from operating activities    
    
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  22 504,505 380,794 
    
Cash flows from investing activities 23 (98,944) 58,463 
    
Cash flows from financing activities 22 - (8,619) 
    
Cash transferred on conversion to an Academy Trust 22 - 816,576 
    

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period  405,561 1,247,214 
    
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds    
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August 2019  1,247,214 - 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August 2020  1,652,775 1,247,214 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 
 
1  Accounting policies 

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where 
noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below. 
 
General Information 

Believe Engage Succeed Trust is a company limited by guarantee incorporated in England. The address of 
the registered office and company registration number is given in the Reference and Administrative Details 
on page 3 of these financial statements and the principal place of business is Bury St Edmunds and 
Lowestoft. The nature of the Academy Trust’s operations and principal activities are set out in the Trustees’ 
Report and continue to be that of the provision of educational services. 

Believe Engage Succeed Trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.  
 
It should be noted that the comparative figures represent a period during which there was a transfer from the 
local authority on conversion on 1st February 2019 and so the results of the two accounting periods are not 
entirely comparable. 
 
Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements of the Academy Trust have been prepared under the historical cost convention in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and  Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), 
the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 
issued by the ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006. 

Going Concern 

The Trustees assess whether the use of the going concern basis is appropriate i.e. whether there are any 
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the 
company to continue as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of at 
least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have concluded that 
the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future 
and there are no material uncertainties about the Academy Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 

Per the Statement of Financial Activities the Academy Trust has restricted income funds of £605,648 and 
unrestricted income funds of £854,936.  The Academy Trust is reporting a restricted general reserves deficit 
of (£3,391,352) due to the pension reserve of (£3,997,000) which is likely to be recovered from additional 
budgeted contribution increases and therefore does not cause any issues for the going concern status of the 
Academy Trust. 

The Trustees’ assessment of going concern has taken into consideration the effects that COVID-19 may 
have on the Academy Trust’s operations going forwards, which remains uncertain at the time of approving 
the financial statements. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
1  Statement of accounting policies (continued) 

Income 

All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is 
probable and the amount can be measured reliably. 

 Grants 
Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of 
income received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant 
funds on the Balance Sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-
related conditions there is no unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred 
and included in creditors as deferred income until the performance-related conditions are met. Where 
entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued. 

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the period for 
which it is receivable and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and 
recognised as a liability. 

Capital grants are recognised when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent 
amounts of capital grant are reflected in the balance in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants 
are recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they 
are expended.  

 Donations  
Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions) 
where the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.  

 
 Other Income  

Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the 
extent the Academy Trust has provided the goods or services.  
 

 Donated goods, facilities and services 
Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, being the expected proceeds from sale less the 
expected costs of sale. If it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt, it is recognised in stock and 
‘Income from other trading activities’. Upon sale, the value of the stock is charged against ‘Income 
from other trading activities’ and the proceeds are recognised as ‘Income from other trading 
activities’. Where it is impractical to fair value the items due to the volume of low value items they 
are not recognised in the financial statements until they are sold.  This income is recognised within 
‘Income from other trading activities’.                                                 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
1  Statement of accounting policies (continued) 

 Transfer on conversion 
Where assets and liabilities are received by the Academy Trust on conversion to an academy, the 
transferred assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the Balance Sheet at the point when 
the risks and rewards pass on to the Academy Trust. 
 

 Transfer of existing academies into the Academy Trust 
Where assets and liabilities are received on the transfer of an existing academy into the Academy 
Trust, the transferred net assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the Balance Sheet at 
the point when the risks and rewards pass on to the Academy Trust. An equal amount of income is 
recognised as transfer on conversion within Donations and capital grant income to the net assets 
received. 
 

 Donated fixed assets 
Where the donated good is a fixed asset it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to 
measure this reliably, in which case the cost of the item to the donor should be used. The gain is 
recognised as income from donations and a corresponding amount included in the appropriate fixed 
asset category and depreciated over the useful economic life in accordance with the Academy 
Trust’s accounting policies. 

Expenditure 

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a 
third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of 
the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are 
made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each 
activity. Direct costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which 
contribute to more than one activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are 
apportioned between those activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are 
allocated on the basis of time spent, and depreciation charges allocated on the proportion of the asset’s use.  
 

 Expenditure on Raising Funds 
This includes all expenditure incurred by the Academy Trust to raise funds for its charitable purposes 
and includes costs of all fundraising activities, events and non-charitable trading. 
 

 Charitable Activities 
These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust’s educational operations, including support costs 
and costs relating to the governance of the Academy Trust apportioned to charitable activities. 

All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
1  Statement of accounting policies (continued) 

Intangible Fixed Assets 

Intangible assets costing £1,000 or more are capitalised and recognised when future economic benefits are 
probable and the cost or value of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are initially recognised 
at cost and are subsequently measured at cost net of amortisation and any provision for impairment. 

Amortisation is provided on intangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a 
straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows: 

 Purchased computer software  3 years 

Tangible Fixed Assets 

Assets costing £1,000 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of 
depreciation and any provision for impairment. 

Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government 
or from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected 
useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding requiring the continued use 
of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial 
Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly 
to the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. Where tangible fixed assets have 
been acquired with unrestricted funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund. 

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than assets under construction, at rates calculated 
to write off the cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows: 

 Leasehold land and buildings 50 years 

 Building improvements 10 years 

 Fixtures and fittings 5 years 

 Furniture and equipment 4 years 

 Computer equipment 3 years 

 
Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged until 
they are brought into use and reclassified to freehold or leasehold land and buildings. 

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed 
assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments.  Impairment losses are recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Activities. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
1  Statement of accounting policies (continued) 

Conversion to an academy trust 
 
The conversion from a state maintained school to an academy trust involved the transfer of identifiable assets 
and liabilities and the operation of the school for £nil consideration. The substance of the transfer is that of a 
gift and it has been accounted for on that basis as set out below. 
 
The assets and liabilities transferred from the local authority on conversion to the Academy Trust have been 
valued at their fair values. The fair values have been derived based on that of equivalent items. The amounts 
have been recognised under the appropriate balance sheet categories, with a corresponding amount 
recognised in donations as a transfer from local authority on conversion in the Statement of Financial 
Activities, analysed under unrestricted funds, restricted general funds and restricted fixed asset funds.  
 
Liabilities 
 

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement 
can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Academy Trust anticipates it will 
pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods or services it must 
provide. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Academy Trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a 
past event which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.  

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those amounts, 
discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the 
discount is recognised within interest payable and similar charges. 
 
Leased Assets 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Financial Instruments 
 
The Academy Trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and 
financial liabilities of the Academy Trust and their measurement basis are as follows: 

Financial assets – trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured 
at amortised cost as detailed in note 15. Prepayments are not financial instruments.  

Cash at bank – is classified as a basic financial instrument. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
1  Statement of accounting policies (continued) 

Financial liabilities – trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are measured 
at amortised cost as detailed in notes 16 and 17. Taxation and social security are not included in the financial 
instruments disclosure definition. Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the cash 
settlement has already taken place and there is an obligation to deliver services rather than cash or another 
financial instrument.  

Taxation 

The Academy Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 
2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. 
Accordingly, the Academy Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains 
received within categories covered by part 11, chapter 3 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of 
the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively 
to charitable purposes. 

Pensions Benefits 

Retirement benefits to employees of the Academy Trust are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
(‘TPS’) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’). These are defined benefit schemes. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over 
employees’ working lives with the Academy Trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level 
percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government 
Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. As stated in note 27, 
the TPS is a multi-employer scheme and there is insufficient information available to use defined benefit 
accounting. The TPS is therefore treated as a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the 
contributions are recognised in the period to which they relate. 

The LGPS is a funded scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the Academy Trust in 
separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are 
measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to 
the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. 
The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The 
amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, 
benefit changes, settlements and curtailments.  They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities 
and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, 
calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used 
to discount the benefit obligations.  The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and 
the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses. 
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Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
1  Statement of accounting policies (continued) 

Fund Accounting 

Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the 
charitable objects of the Academy Trust at the discretion of the Trustees. 

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by 
funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose. 

Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the 
funder/donor and include grants from the Education and Skills Funding Agency and Department for 
Education. 
 
Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number 
of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used 
in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these 
assumptions, which are disclosed in note 27, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. 
Furthermore a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed 
at 31 March 2016 has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 August 2020. Any 
differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would 
impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability.  

The valuation of land and buildings is based on a number of factors including location, condition and 
replacement cost. The assumptions used in determining the land and buildings valuation will apply in an 
estimate of the useful economic life of these assets for the purposes of calculating depreciation.  

Critical areas of judgement 
The legal owner of part of the school premises at The Albany is the East Anglia Roman Catholic Diocese 
and leased to the Academy Trust on a long-term lease, of which the remaining part of the lease is 
approximately four years. The Trustees have exercised judgement to conclude that control remains with the 
East Anglia Roman Catholic Diocese and not the Academy Trust and therefore the associated land and 
buildings are not shown on the Academy Trust’s Balance Sheet. 
 
In relation to the use of the above premises, the Trustees do not feel a notional donation can be reliably 
measured and therefore this has not been recognised within the accounts.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
1  Statement of accounting policies (continued) 

Agency arrangements 
 
The Academy Trust acts as an agent in distributing 16-19 bursary funds from the ESFA. Payments received 
from the ESFA and subsequent disbursements to students are excluded from the Statement of Financial 
Activities as the Trust does not have control over the charitable application of the funds. The Trust can use 
a % of the allocation towards its own administration costs and this is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Activities. The funds received and paid and any balances held are discussed in note 30. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
2  Donations and capital grants 
 

 

Unrestricted 
Funds 

£ 

Restricted 
Funds 

£ 

Total 
2020 

£ 

Total 
2019 

£ 
Capital grants - 22,672 22,672 58,158 
Donated fixed assets - - - - 
Other donations 5,575 30,111 35,686 17,622  

5,575 52,783 58,358 75,780 

3  Funding for the Academy Trust’s educational operations 
  

Unrestricted 
Funds 

£ 

Restricted 
Funds 

£ 

Total 
2020 

£ 

Total 
2019 

£ 
DfE / ESFA grants 

   
 

General Annual Grant (GAG) - 3,210,000 3,210,000 1,865,016 
Other DfE/ESFA grants - 386,041 386,041 310,708  

- 3,596,041 3,596,041 2,175,724  
    

Other Government grants     
Local authority grants - 373,450 373,450 312,463 
Special educational projects - 3,889,255 3,889,255 2,166,117 
Special educational projects settlement - (287,103) (287,103) - 

 - 3,975,602 3,975,602 2,478,580 
     
Other income from the academy trust’s 
educational operations 

- - - - 

     
 - 7,571,643 7,571,643 4,654,304 

 
As part of the Academy Conversion, a Balance Determination was provided by Suffolk County Council 
(SCC).  The amount of this Balance Determination was challenged by the Trust on the basis that SCC paid 
top up funding to the Trust's predecessor schools termly in arrears.  Post conversion, the top up funding 
contract between the Trust and SCC agreed payment terms of monthly in arrears and invoices were raised 
on this basis from 1 February 2019.  During the current year, SCC disputed the invoices raised in February 
and March 2019 based on their view that the amounts had already been received by the predecessor schools 
and therefore they had been double counted.  In November 2020, following exchanges of documentation 
and legal correspondence, SCC proposed a resolution of the dispute.  The Trust Board agreed to this 
resolution and have accrued the £287,103 settlement, recognising it as a reduction of the special educational 
projects income in the year. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
4  Other trading income 

 Unrestricted 
Funds 

£ 

Restricted 
Funds 

£ 

Total 
2020 

£ 

Total 
2019 

£ 
Hire of facilities 8,830 - 8,830 5,258 
Income from other charitable activities 1,125 - 1,125 702 
Income from ancillary trading activities 55,630 227,637 283,267 203,583 
 65,585 227,637 293,222 209,543 

5  Investment income 

 Unrestricted 
Funds 

£ 

Restricted 
Funds 

£ 

Total 
2020 

£ 

Total 
2019 

£ 
Short term deposits 351 - 351 305 
 351 - 351 305 

6  Expenditure 

  Non Pay Expenditure   

 

Staff 
Costs 

£ 
Premises 

£ 
Other 

£ 

Total 
 2020 

£ 

Total 
 2019 

£ 
Raising Funds      
. Direct costs - - 274,058 274,058 171,018 
. Allocated support costs - - - - - 
Grants      
. Direct costs - 9,981 - 9,981 - 
. Allocated support costs - - - - - 
Academy Trust's educational operations      
. Direct costs 5,722,931 - 420,853 6,143,784 3,412,535 

. Allocated support costs 1,088,864 361,039 850,718 2,300,621 1,254,845 

 6,811,795 371,020 1,545,629 8,728,444 4,838,398 
 
Net income/(expenditure) for the period includes:   

  
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
Operating lease rentals 18,224 9,923 

Depreciation 551,017 320,188 
Amortisation of intangible fixed asstes (included within Charitable Activities – 
Academy Trust educational operations) 

10,586 5,624 

Fees payable to auditor for:   

- audit 6,600 6,450 

- other services 3,650 3,500 
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7  Analysis of grants 

 Unrestricted 
Funds 

£ 

Restricted 
Funds 

£ 

Total 
2020 

£ 

Total 
2019 

£ 
Improvements to Diocesan property 
occupied by the Academy Trust 

- 9,981 9,981 - 

 - 9,981 9,981 - 

8  Charitable activities 
 

 

 

Total 
2020 

£ 

Total 
2019 

£ 
    
Direct costs – educational operations   6,143,784 3,412,535 
Support costs – educational operations  2,300,621 1,254,845 

  8,444,405 4,667,380 
    
    
Analysis of support costs Educational 

operations  
£ 

Total  
2020  

£ 

Total  
2019  

£ 
Support staff costs* 1,088,864 1,088,864 562,195 
Depreciation and amortisation 561,603 561,603 325,812 
Premises costs 361,039 361,039 144,653 
Legal costs – conversion  9,070 9,070 48,830 
Legal costs – other  14,710 14,710 1,920 
Other support costs 235,499 235,499 155,300 
Governance costs 29,836 29,836 16,135 

Total support costs 2,300,621 2,300,621 1,254,845 
    

 
*  Support staff costs includes service and finance cost adjustments made in respect of defined benefit 

pension schemes totalling £453,000 (2019: £200,000).  
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9 Staff 

a. Staff costs 

Staff costs during the period were: 

 
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
Wages and salaries 4,587,240 2,651,085 
Social security costs 342,732 197,370 
Pension costs   
- Employer contributions payable 1,110,099 562,219 
- Service cost adjustment in respect of defined benefit schemes 453,000 200,000  

6,493,071 3,610,674 
   
Agency staff costs 310,806 157,521 
Apprenticeship levy 7,918 3,231 
Staff restructuring costs – severance payments - 5,431  

6,811,795 3,776,857 

  
b. Non statutory/non-contractual staff severance payments 

Included in staff restructuring costs are non-statutory/non-contractual severance payments totalling 
£nil (2019: £5,431). Individually, the amount was made up of nil (2019: 1) payments to individuals. 

c. Staff numbers 
 
The average number of persons employed by the Academy Trust during the period was as follows: 

 
2020 

No. 
2019 

No. 
Teachers 51 51 
Administration and support 206 203 
Management 10 8  

267 262 
  



45 

Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
9 Staff (continued) 

d. Higher paid staff 
 
The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded 
£60,000 was:  

2020 
No. 

2019 
No. 

£60,001 - £70,000 2 - 
£70,001 - £80,000 1 - 
£80,001 - £90,000 - - 
£90,001 - £100,000 1 - 

e. Key management personnel 
 
The key management personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the Trustees and the senior 
management team. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions 
and national insurance) received by key management personnel for their services to the Academy 
Trust was £376,116 (2019: £189,105). 

10  Related Party Transactions – Trustees’ remuneration and expenses 
 
One Trustee has been paid remuneration and received other benefits from an employment with the Academy 
Trust. This individual only receives remuneration in respect of services she provides undertaking the roles of 
headteacher and CEO under her contract of employment. 

The value of Trustees’ remuneration and other benefits was as follows: 
 

Mrs J Hatchell (Headteacher, CEO and Trustee):  
Remuneration £95,000 - £100,000 (2019: £80,000 - £85,000) 
Employer’s pension contributions paid £20,000 - £25,000 (2019: £10,000 - £15,000) 
 

During the year ended 31 August 2020, £2,265 travel and subsistence expenses were reimbursed or paid 
directly to Trustees for the performance of their Trust duties (2019: none). 
 
Other related party transactions involving the Trustees are set out in note 28. 
 
11  Trustees and officers insurance 

The Academy Trust has opted into the Department for Education’s Risk Protection Arrangement (RPA), an 
alternative to insurance where the UK Government funds cover losses that arise. This scheme protects 
Trustees and Officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on 
Academy business, and provides cover up to £10,000,000. It is not possible to quantify the Trustees and 
Officers indemnity element from the overall cost of the RPA scheme. 
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12  Central services 

The Academy Trust has provided the following central services to its academies during the period: 

 human resources 
 payroll 
 financial services 
 insurance 
 procurement 
 clerking services 
 CEO and Business Leader costs 
 educational support services 

 
The Trust charges for these services received by each school. 

13  Intangible fixed assets 

 Computer 
software 

£ 
Total 

£ 
   
Cost   
At 31 August 2019 28,925 28,925 
Additions 6,000 6,000 

At 31 August 2020 34,925 34,925 
   
Depreciation   
At 31 August 2019 5,624 5,624 
Charged in period 10,586 10,586 

At 31 August 2020 16,210 16,210 
   
Net book values   
At 31 August 2019 23,301 23,301 

At 31 August 2020 18,715 18,715 
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14 Tangible fixed assets 

 Leasehold 
Land and 
Buildings 

Fixtures & 
Fittings  

Furniture & 
Equipment  

Computer 
Equipment Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 
Cost      
At 31 August 2019 22,279,556 26,771 19,694 57,900 22,383,921 
Additions 77,690 - 8,691 29,586 115,967 
At 31 August 2020 22,357,246 26,771 28,385 87,486 22,499,888 
      
Depreciation      
At 31 August 2019 296,963 942 4,940 17,343 320,188 
Charged in period 511,695 1,614 7,164 30,544 551,017 
At 31 August 2020 808,658 2,556 12,104 47,887 871,205 
      
Net book values      
At 31 August 2019 21,982,593 25,829 14,754 40,557 22,063,733 

At 31 August 2020 21,548,588 24,215 16,281 39,599 21,628,683 

 
 
On 1st February 2019, Suffolk County Council granted the Academy Trust a 125 year lease for part of the 
land at The Albany, Bury St Edmunds. In the opinion of the Members, the substance of the position at 1st 
February 2019 was that the Academy Trust had control over this part of the land at The Albany and 
substantially all the significant risks and rewards associated with ownership had been transferred to the 
Academy Trust. The East Anglia Roman Catholic Diocese Trustee granted the Academy Trust a lease for 
the remainder of the land and buildings at The Albany. In the opinion of the Members, the substance of the 
position at 1st February 2019 was that this land and buildings and substantially all the significant risks and 
rewards associated with their ownership belonged to the East Anglia Roman Catholic Diocese. 
Consequently, this land and buildings were not transferred to the Academy Trust on conversion.  

On 1st February 2019, Suffolk County Council granted the Academy Trust a 125 year lease for the land and 
buildings at Riverwalk School, Bury St Edmunds. In the opinion of the Members, the substance of the position 
at 1st February 2019 was that the Academy Trust had control over the land and buildings and substantially 
all the significant risks and rewards associated with ownership had been transferred to the Academy Trust. 
The School also occupies premises at Greene Road, Bury St Edmunds however the land is shared use and 
so only the buildings have been transferred to the Academy Trust. 

On 1st February 2019, Suffolk County Council granted the Academy Trust a 125 year lease for the land and 
buildings at Warren School, Lowestoft. In the opinion of the Members, the substance of the position at 1st 
February 2019 was that the Academy Trust had control over the land and buildings and substantially all the 
significant risks and rewards associated with ownership had been transferred to the Academy Trust. 

The basis of valuation used to value the leasehold buildings on transfer was fair value on the depreciated 
replacement cost (DRC) basis. 
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15 Debtors 

 2020 
£ 

2019 
£ 

Trade debtors 363,709 273,017 
VAT recoverable 29,087 106,782 
Other debtors 385 395 
Prepayments and accrued income 159,312 110,557 

 552,493 490,751 
 
16 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
  

2020 
£ 

2019 
£ 

Trade creditors 52,092 68,654 
Other taxation and social security 75,875 76,169 
Loans 2,702 5,917 
Other creditors 410,942 112,868 
Accruals and deferred income 140,588 36,352  

682,199 299,960 

   

Deferred income 
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
   

Deferred income at 31 August 2019 48 - 
Released from previous years (48) - 
Resources deferred in the period 17,807 48 

Deferred income at 31 August 2020 17,807 48 

At the balance sheet date the academy trust was holding funds received in advance from Universal Infant 
Free School Meals (UIFSM) and dinner money for use in the 2020/21 academic year.  

 
17 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
  

2020 
£ 

2019 
£ 

Loans - 2,702  
- 2,702 

 
Included within Creditors due in less than one year and within the amounts due in more than 1 year is a 
Salix loan inherited from the local authority on conversion of £2,702 (2019: £8,619). This loan is interest 
free and subject to annual repayments of which £2,702 is due on 1st September 2020. 
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18 Funds 

 

Balance at 1 
September 

2019 
£ 

Income 
£ 

Expenditure 
£ 

Gains, 
losses and 

transfers 
£ 

Balance at 
31 August 

2020 
£ 

RESTRICTED      
 
 

     

Restricted general funds      
General Annual Grant (GAG) 9,458 3,210,000 (3,208,395) (3,640) 7,423 
Pupil Premium - 131,524 (114,141) - 17,383 
Other grants 592,498 4,487,867 (4,390,922) (108,601) 580,842 
Pension reserve (2,649,000) - (453,000) (895,000) (3,997,000) 
 (2,047,044) 7,829,391 (8,166,458) (1,007,241) (3,391,352) 

      
Restricted fixed asset funds      
Transfer on conversion 22,078,415 - (553,784) - 21,524,631 
DfE Group capital grants 58,158 22,672 - - 80,830 
Capital expenditure from GAG - - (61) 3,640 3,579 
Capital expenditure from other - - (7,758) 108,601 100,843 
 22,136,573 22,672 (561,603) 112,241 21,709,883  

     

Total restricted funds 20,089,529 7,852,063 (8,728,061) (895,000) 18,318,531 
      

Total unrestricted funds 783,808 71,511 (383) - 854,936  
     

Total funds 20,873,337 7,923,574 (8,728,444) (895,000) 19,173,467 

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 

ESFA revenue grant fund and other restricted funds 

General Annual Grant (GAG) and other restricted funds 
The General Annual Grant and other restricted funds are for the operational activities of the schools. Under 
the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Academy Trust was not subject to a limit on the 
amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2020. 

Fixed asset funds 
These grants relate to funding received to purchase assets of a capital nature and buildings inherited on 
conversion. Transfers to the fixed asset funds from other revenue reserves are made when revenue reserves 
are used to acquire tangible fixed assets. 

Pension reserve 
The pension reserve relates to the Trust’s share of the deficit of the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 
The Trust is carrying a net surplus of £605,648 (2019: £601,956) on restricted general funds (excluding 
pension reserve) and a net surplus of £854,936 (2019: £783,808) on unrestricted funds. 
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18 Funds (continued) 

Transfers between funds comprise: 
 £ 
Transfer from General Annual Grant (GAG) to fund capital expenditure  3,640 
Transfer from other restricted funds to fund capital expenditure 108,601 

 

Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows: 

 

Balance at 
26 August 

2018 
£ 

Income 
£ 

Expenditure 
£ 

Gains, 
losses and 

transfers 
£ 

Balance at 
31 August 

2019  
£ 

RESTRICTED      
 
 

     

Restricted general funds      
General Annual Grant (GAG) - 1,865,016 (1,855,558) - 9,458 
Start Up Grant - 120,000 (120,000) - - 
Pupil Premium - 84,093 (84,093) - - 
Other grants - 2,842,805 (2,250,307) - 592,498 
Pension reserve - (1,721,000) (200,000) (728,000) (2,649,000) 
 - 3,190,914 (4,509,958) (728,000) (2,047,044) 
      
Restricted fixed asset funds      
Transfer on conversion - 22,404,227 (325,812) - 22,078,415 
DfE Group capital grants - 58,158 - - 58,158 
 - 22,462,385 (325,812) - 22,136,573  

     

Total restricted funds - 25,653,299 (4,835,770) (728,000) 20,089,529 
      

Total unrestricted funds - 786,436 (2,628) - 783,808  
     

Total funds - 26,439,735 (4,838,398) (728,000) 20,873,337 
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18 Funds (continued) 

Total funds analysis by academy 

Fund balances at 31 August 2020 were allocated as follows: 

 2020 
£ 

2019 
£ 

   

The Albany 385,162 347,655 

Riverwalk School 948,183 884,347 

Warren School 135,133 56,236 

Central services (7,894) 97,526 

Total before fixed assets and pension reserve 1,460,584 1,385,764 

   

Restricted fixed asset fund 21,709,883 22,136,573 

Pension reserve (3,997,000) (2,649,000) 

Total 19,173,467 20,873,337 

 
Central Services is carrying a net deficit on restricted funds due to accrued governance expenses that have 
been allowed for. 
 
These expenses will be internally recharged to the schools in the Autumn Term 2020/21, reinstating the 
central location to a surplus position. 

Analysis of academies by cost 

Expenditure incurred by each academy during the period was as follows: 

 

Teaching and 
educational 

support staff 
costs 

£ 

Other 
support staff 

costs 
£ 

Premises 
costs 

£ 

Other costs 
(excluding 

depreciation) 
£ 

Total  
2020 

£ 

Total  
2019 

£ 

       

The Albany 798,217 93,109 83,920 398,699 1,373,945 784,005 

Riverwalk School 3,008,327 416,615 157,906 327,113 3,909,961 2,099,106 

Warren School 1,916,387 126,140 129,194 188,345 2,360,066 1,427,751 

Central services - 453,000 - 69,869 522,869 201,724 

 5,722,931 1,088,864 371,020 984,026 8,166,841 4,512,586 
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19 Analysis of net assets between funds 

Fund balances at 31 August 2020 are represented by: 

 

Unrestricted 
Funds  

£ 

Restricted 
General 

Funds 
£ 

Restricted 
Fixed Asset 

Funds 
£ 

Total Funds 
£  

    
Intangible fixed assets - - 18,715 18,715 
Tangible fixed assets - - 21,628,683 21,628,683 
Current assets 854,936 1,285,145 65,187 2,205,268 
Current liabilities & long-term liabilities - (679,497) (2,702) (682,199) 
Pension scheme liability - (3,997,000) - (3,997,000) 
Total net assets 854,936 (3,391,352) 21,709,883 19,173,467 

 
 
Fund balances at 31 August 2019 are represented by: 

 

Unrestricted 
Funds  

£ 

Restricted 
General 

Funds 
£ 

Restricted 
Fixed Asset 

Funds 
£ 

Total Funds 
£  

    
Intangible fixed assets - - 23,301 23,301 
Tangible fixed assets - - 22,063,733 22,063,733 
Current assets 784,017 895,790 58,158 1,737,965 
Current liabilities & long-term liabilities (209) (293,834) (8,619) (302,662) 
Pension scheme liability - (2,649,000) - (2,649,000) 

Total net assets 783,808 (2,047,044) 22,136,573 20,873,337 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



53 

Believe Engage Succeed Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended              
31 August 2020 (continued) 
 
20 Capital commitments 

 
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
   
Contracted for, but not provided in the financial statements - - 

 
21 Commitments under operating leases 

Operating leases 

At 31 August 2020 the total of the Academy Trust’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases was: 

 
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 

   
Amounts due within one year 13,506 16,687 
Amounts due between one and five years 9,128 9,718 
Amounts due after five years - - 

 22,634 26,405 
 
22 Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities 
 

 2020 
£ 

2019 
£ 

Net (expenditure)/income for the reporting period (as per the statement of 
financial activities) 

(804,870) 21,601,337 

Adjusted for:   
Amortisation (note 13) 10,586 5,624 
Depreciation (note 14) 551,017 320,188 
Capital grants from DfE and other capital income (note 2) (22,672) (58,158) 
Interest receivable (note 5) (351) (305) 
Defined benefit pension scheme deficit transferred in - 1,721,000 
Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contributions payable (note 27) 400,000 173,000 
Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost (note 27) 53,000 27,000 
Donated assets on conversion - (22,412,846) 
Salix loan inherited on conversion - 8,619 
Cash received on conversion - (816,576) 
Increase in debtors (61,742) (490,751) 
Increase in creditors 379,537 302,662 

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 504,505 380,794 
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23 Cash flows from investing activities 
 

 
24 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
25 Analysis of changes in net debt 
 

 At 31 August 
2019 

£ 
Cash flows 

£ 

Other non-
cash changes 

£ 

At 31 
August 2020 

£ 
Cash in hand and at bank 1,247,214 405,561 - 1,652,775 
Loans falling due within one year (5,917) 5,917 (2,702) (2,702) 
Loans falling due after more than one year (2,702) - 2,702 - 

Total 1,238,595 411,478 - 1,650,073 

26 Members liability 

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event 
of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such 
amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases 
to be a member. 

27 Pension and similar obligations 
 
The Academy Trust’s employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by Suffolk County Council. Both are multi-employer defined 
benefit schemes. 

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS and of the LGPS related to the period ended 31 March 2016. 

There were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at either the beginning or the end of the financial period. 

 

 

 

 2020 
£ 

2019 
£ 

Dividends, interest and rents from investments 351 305 
Purchase of intangible fixed assets (6,000) - 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (115,967) - 
Capital grants from DfE/ESFA 22,672 58,158 

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities (98,944) 58,463 

 2020 
£ 

2019 
£ 

Cash at hand and at bank 1,652,775 1,247,214 
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27 Pension and similar obligations (continued) 

Teachers’ Pension Scheme  

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the 
Teachers' Pensions Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers in academies. All teachers 
have the option to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes contributions, as a 
percentage of salary - these contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension 
benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament.   

Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in 
accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published 
by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial 
scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and 
many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016. The 
valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 5 March 2019. The key elements of the 
valuation and subsequent consultation are:  
 

 employer contribution rates set at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration 
levy); 

 total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for 
service to the effective date of £218,100 million, and notional assets (estimated future contributions 
together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £196,100 million giving a notional 
past service deficit of £22,000 million; 

 the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the notional investment return. The current 
SCAPE rate is 2.4% above the rate of CPI. assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in excess of prices 
and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.2%. the assumed 
nominal rate of return including earnings growth is 4.45%. 

 
The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2023. 

The employer’s pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £498,958 (2019: £199,647). 

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website. 

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The Trust 
has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The Trust has 
set out above the information available on the scheme. 
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27 Pension and similar obligations (continued) 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme 

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered 
funds. The total contribution made for the period ended 31 August 2020 was £732,000 (2019: £438,000), of 
which employer’s contributions totalled £605,000 (2019: £364,000) and employees’ contributions totalled 
£127,000 (2019: £74,000). The agreed contribution rates for future years are between 5.5% and 12.5% for 
employees and 27% for employers. 
 
Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the 
event of academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the 
Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013. 
 

Principal actuarial assumptions At 31 August 2020 At 31 August 2019 
   
Rate of increase in salaries 2.90% 2.60% 
Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation 2.20% 2.30% 
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 1.70% 1.90% 

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.  
The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: 

 At 31 August 2020 At 31 August 2019 
Retiring today   
Males 21.9 21.3 
Females 24.1  23.5 
   
Retiring in 20 years   
Males 22.7 22.3 
Females 25.6 24.9 

 
The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are set out 
below: 
 

Sensitivity analysis – net increase in liability 
At 31 August 2020 

£ 
At 31 August 2019 

£ 
   
0.5% decrease in real discount rate 1,246,000 941,000 
0.5% increase in salary increase rate  149,000 135,000 
0.5% increase in pension increase rate 1,073,000 787,000 
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The Academy Trust’s share of the assets in the scheme were: 

 Fair value at  
31 August 2020 

£ 

Fair value at  
31 August 2019 

£ 
   
Equity instruments 2,815,000 2,049,000 
Debt instruments 1,241,000 1,107,000 
Property 429,000 902,000 
Cash 286,000 41,000 

Total market value of assets 4,771,000 4,099,000 

The actual return on scheme assets was -0.32%. 

Amount recognised in the statement of financial activities 

 2020 
£ 

2019 
£ 

   
Current service cost  (1,038,000) (477,000) 
Past service cost  33,000 (60,000) 
Net interest cost (53,000) (27,000) 

Total operating charge (1,058,000) (564,000) 
 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

 
2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
   
At 31 August 6,748,000 - 
Upon conversion - 5,104,000 

Current service cost 1,038,000 477,000 

Past service cost (33,000) 60,000 

Interest cost 138,000 83,000 

Employee contributions 127,000 74,000 

Actuarial (gain)/loss 796,000 950,000 

Benefits paid (46,000) - 

At 31 August 8,768,000 6,748,000 
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Changes in the fair value of Academy Trust’s share of scheme assets: 
 2020 

£ 
2019 

£ 
   
At 31 August 4,099,000 - 
Upon conversion - 3,383,000 
Interest income 85,000 56,000 
Actuarial gain/(loss) (99,000) 222,000 
Employer contributions 605,000 364,000 
Employee contributions 127,000 74,000 
Benefits paid (46,000) - 
At 31 August 4,771,000 4,099,000 

 
28 Related party transactions 

Owing to the nature of the Academy Trust’s operations and the composition of the Board of Trustees being 
drawn from local public and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in 
which a Trustee has an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted at arm’s length 
and in accordance with the Academy Trust’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures. 
 
There were no related party transactions during the period. 
 
29 Ultimate controlling party 
 
The charitable company is under the day to day control of the Trustees. 
 
There is no ultimate controlling party. 
 
30 Agency arrangements 
 
The academy distributes 16-19 bursary funds to students as an agent for the ESFA. In the accounting period 
ending 31 August 2020 the Trust received £10,800 (2019: £822) and disbursed £10,800 (2019: £822). An 
amount of £nil (2019: £nil) is included within other creditors relating to undistributed funds that are payable 
to 16-19 bursary students. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


